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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

GREGORY PERRY

Plaintiff, . Civ. No. 18-11224KM) (MAH)
V. .
JAMES T. PLOUSISet al, . OPINION
Defendand.

KEVINMCNULTY, U.S.D.J.

l. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Gregory Perry a former state inmateis proceedingoro sewith a civil rights
complaint filedpursuant ta42 U.S.C. § 1983Presentlybefore the Court is motion todismiss
filed by Defendants/ilmary Lopez and Joseph Leak®E 43.) Forthereasonset forthbelow,
the motion will begranted
1. BACKGROUND

A. Allegations of the Complaint?

The Court recites only the facts necessary to regbiganotion. Plaintiff states thabn
January 30, 2018ewas paroledrom the New Jersey Department of Corrections emerecda
required 180-day Re-Entry Substance Abuse PrograffRESAP’) administeredby the GEO
Group (DE 9 at 4.) Prior to his release, Plaintiff signed a document describing the “femneral
“special conditions” of his releasdd() Upon arriving athis assigned RESAP facility, Delaney

Hall, Plaintiff alsosigned a “Community Programs Consent Form” which outlinedfédity’s

! For the purposes dhis motion, the Court accepts as true the factual allegations setrfdih i
complaint.SeeNew Jersey Carpenters & the Trustees Theredfshman Const. Corp. of New Jersé§0
F.3d 297, 302 (3d Cir. 2014).
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search policy.I¢l.) Plaintiff states that from the date he arrived at DelaneyuséllJune 3, 2018,
hewas only subjected to random pat-down searches of his person by GEO Group esgtbye
at 4-5.) His living spacevas never searche(ld. at 5.)

On June 1, 2018, Plaintifiled a grievance against Defendant Robert Jones, a shift
supervisor aDelaney Hall (Id.) Three days lategn June 4, 2018, Defendant Juanita Roberson, a
counselor at the facility, searcheintiff’s living space(Id.) Plaintiff stateghatDefendant Jones
orderedDefendant Roberson to condtilee searchafter helearned of Plaintiff’'s grievancéld.)
During the search, Defendant Roberson fo@d0.00an amounin excess ofhe $50.0Plaintiff
was permitted to haveld()

As a result of this possession of “contrabamidintiff was removedrom the work release
component of the RESAP program aeduiredto complete gunitive program assignmetitat
included undertaking an “extra duty roster,” writan essay, and provigy “answers to specific
guestions designed to address the resident’s offending behaidoit 6.) Plaintiffallegesthat
the person who issued this punishment was Defendant Vilmary Lopez, an employee of tbe Divis
of Parole in charge of ensuring individuals abide by and complete the conditions of the RESAP
program (Id. at 2-3, 6.) The decision, according to Plaintifivas based on a presumably (and
non-existent) zergolerance policy for having possessed U.S. currency beyond the $50.00 limit.”
(Id.) Plaintiff subsequentlyiled another grievance, alleging that the search of his living quarters
violated the Division b Parole’s search policieand was motivatedby Defendant Jones’
retaliatoryanimus. [d. at 5.)

OnJune 11, 2018, Plaintsffirst grievanceegardingDefendant Jonesas adjudicatedy
Defendant Krusznis, the acting director Delaney Hall (Id. at 3 7.) Defendant Krusznis

determined that Plaintiff grievancenvas“unsustainable.”Ifl. at 7.)
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On June 12, 2018, whiklaintiff was working in the law library, Defendant Jones directed
Defendant Roberson to remove Plaintiff from tbem (Id. at 6.) After Plaintiffexplained that he
had received permission from another supervisor to use the law library, DefendardoRober
disconnected the computer printer and moved it into her offce OE 9-1 at 10) The following
day, Defendant Krusznis ordered the printer returned to the law lib@Ey9@t 7.)

On June 14, 2018, Plaintiifed anothergrievance.Id. at 9.) Ths time, he alleged that the
unlawful search of his room violatddelaney Hall's ownsearch policiesin addition to those
promulgated by the Division of Paeol(ld.) Defendant Krusznis “summarily rejected the
substantive content of the grievance and elkrthe claim.” id.) On June 22, 2018, Plaintiff
engaged in a “heated discussion” with Defendant Krusznis about the denial of his grievdnces. (
at 8.) Plaintiff states that, in retaliation for his filing of grievances, DefetsdLopez, Krusznis,
and “ahers,” arranged to havieim transferred to anothdRESAP facility, the “Albert ‘Bo’
Robinson Assessment Centetd.]

On July 5, 2018afterbeing transferred to the Robinson Assessment Cétitentiff was
working in the facility’s library. Id. at 9.) Hefilled outa grievance formegarding‘the arcane
telephone procedures” and printed it out in the computer lidp.defendant Melissa Newborn,
the clinical director of the Robinson Assessment Center, apparently noticednioeitpand
“becamealarmed.” (d. at 3, 9.)ThereafterPlaintiff alleges Defendant Newborn and Defendant
Joseph Leake, an employee of the Division of Parole responsible for ensuring indivicilelsya
and complete the conditions of the RESAP progriaitiated the proces to revoke Plaintiff's
parole. [d. at 9.) The purportelasis forPlaintiff’'s parolerevocation wasis filing of numerous
“false and misleading requestsld.j Plaintiff states h&vassubsequentl{negatively discharged”

from the Robinson Assessmengr@er, and a parole warrant was “fabricatedlicatingthat he
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was “not amenable to clinical programmingltl.] Plaintiff alleges, however, that his parole
revocation was “vindictive and illegal.id. at 8.)

On July 10, 2018, Plaintiffras returnedo the New Jersey Department of Corrections and
placed in the Mercer County Correctional Facilityl. @t 9) He was releaseffom custodyon
August 8, 2018.1¢.)

B. Procedural History

Plaintiff initiatedthis actionon June 29, 2018DE 1) On October 10, 12, 201 ®laintiff
filed anamendedativil rights complaint naminthe following Defendantslames Plousis, Vilmary
Lopez,“Krusznis,” Robert Jones, Juanita Roberson, Melissa Newborn, Joseph Leake amidJohn
Jane Does(DE 9 at 2—4) The amended complaint raisgaims of First Amendment retaliation,
Fourth Amendment unlawful search and seizure, and Fourteenth Amendment procedural a
substantive due process violationd. &t 10.)Plaintiff sues each Defendanthis or her individuba
and official capacit and seeks monetary damagéd. &t 11.)

Presentl\before the Court ithhe motions oDefendant Leakeand Lopez ration todismiss
the claims against them in the amended complafBtE 43.) (“Defendants” herein, unless
otherwise specified, refers to these two movaiitse)motion was filedn April 17, 2020Plaintiff
did not fileany oppositionl nevertheless review the allegations for sufficiency under the relevant
legal standards, whichr@as follows.

1.  LEGAL STANDARD

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(@@rovides for the dismissal of a complaint, in
whole or in part, if it fails to state a claim upon which relief can be grantesinfoving party
bears the burden of showing that no claiasbeen statedSeeHedges v. United State$04 F.3d

744, 750 (3d Cir. 2005). In decidingh@otionto dismiss a court must take all allegations in the
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complaint as true and view them in the light most favorable to the plaidg&New Jersey
Carpenters &he Trustees Therewf Tishman Const. Corp. of New Jersé§0 F.3d 297, 302 (3d
Cir. 2014) see alsd’hillips v. County of Alleghen15 F.3d 224, 231 (3d Cir. 2008).

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a) does not require that a complaint containddetaile
factual allegationsNevertheless,a plaintiff’s obligation to provide the ‘grounds’ of his
‘entitlement to relief requires more than labels antckesions, and formulaic recitation of the
elements of a cause of action will not’ddell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y550 U.S. 544, 555 (20Q7)
see also Phillips v. Cnty. of Alleghergl5 F.3d 224, 232 (3d Cir. 2008) (Rule 8 “requires a
‘showing’ rather than a blanket assertion of an entitlement to relief.” (citation omifiéuaig, the
factual allegations must sifficientto raise a plaintifs right to relief above a speculative level,
such thait is “plausible on its face.Twombly 550 U.S. at 57Gsee alsdNest Run Student Hous.
Assocs., LLC v. Huntington Nat. Banld2 F.3d 165, 169 (3d Cir. 2013).

The facial plausibility standaid met‘when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows
the court to draw the reasonable inferencetti@tlefendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”
Ashcroft v. Igbal 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (citinpwombly 550 U.S. at 556). While “[t]he
plausibility standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement’ ... it asks for niane & sheer
possibility.” Id. at 678.

IV. ANALYSIS

A. Official Capacity Claims

Defendantdirst assert that under 8 1983aintiff cannot sue them in their official
capacity for monetary damages. Section § 1983 provides:

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation,
custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the District of

Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the
United States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the
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deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the
Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action
atlaw, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for redress, except
that in any action brought against a judicial officer for an act or
omission taken in such officer’s judicial capacity, injunctive relief
shall not be granted unless a declaratory decree was violated or
declaratory relief was unavailable.

42 U.S.C. § 1983.

To state a claim under 8§ 1983, a plaintiff must allege, first, the violation of a rigledec
by the Constitution or laws of the United States, and second, that the alleged depweation
committedor caused by a person acting under color of stateSa@Harvey v. Plains Twp. Police
Dep't, 635 F.3d 606, 609 (3d Cir. 201%ge alsoNestv. Atking 487 U.S. 42, 48 (1988).

Section 1983 claims for monetary damages against a state official $ugdirer official
capacity, however, are barred by Eleventh Amendment immuwitlv. Michigan Dep't of State
Police, 491 U.S. 5870-71 (1989).[A] state official sued in his or her official capacity is not a
‘person’ for the purposes of 8983 where the reéf sought is monetary damages because the
Supreme Court has not construed383as an abrogation of the states’ Eleventh Amendment
Immunity.” Lewis v. Wetzell53 F. Supp. 3d 678, 699 (M.D. Pa. 2015) (citmdj, 491 U.S. 58,
63—7). In the instantaction, Plaintiff has indeed sued Defendants in both their official and
individual capacities ansought onlyrelief in the form ofmonetary damageéDE 9 at 11) Since
Plaintiff's official capacity claims against Defendants for monetary demagebarred by
Eleventh Amendment immunity, tbe officialcapacityclaimsmust be dismissed.

B. First Amendment Retaliation

Defendantsnext asserthat Plaintiff has not provided sufficient factual allegations to
supporta First Amendment retaliatiodlaim aganst them(DE 43-1 at 11) Defendants argue that
theamended @mplaintis devoid ofany information showing Defendants knew tR&intiff had

filed grievances or that Defendan&tionsweremotivatedby those grievancedd()

6
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To assert a claim fdfirst Amendmentretaliationunder 81983 a plaintiff must allege:
“(1) his conduct was constitutionally protected; (2) he suffered an adverse actiomandiseof
prison officials; and (3) his constitutionally protected conduct was a stibstanmotivating
factor in the decision to discipline him.Watson v. Rozun834 F.3d 417, 422 (3d Cir. 2016)
(internal footnotes and citations omittedy to the first prongit is well established that the filing
of agrievance constitutes conduct protected byHihe AmendmentSeeSmith v. Mensingef93
F.3d 641, 653 (3d Cir. 200Xee alsdMartin v. Gearhart 712 F. App’x 179, 187 (3d Cir. 2017)
Nifas v. Colemayb28 F. App’x 132, 134 (3d Cir. 2013s to thesecond prongn adverse action
isa punishment sufficient to “deter a person of ordinary firmness from exercising hisutiomstl
rights.” Thomas v. Indepwp., 463 F.3d 285, 296 (3d CR006).Finally, with regard tdhe third
prong, a causal conrngan maybe shown through either “an unusually suggestive time proximity
between the protected activity and the allegedly retaliatory action” or tarpatf antagonism
coupled with timing to establish a caukak.” Lauren W. ex relJean W. v. DeFlaminjg80 F.3d
259, 267 (3dCir. 2007).If a plaintiff cannotdemonstrate either of dse connectionshe must
establish that “from the evidence in the record as a whole, the trier of fact sheuthugation.”
Id. “Where the temporal proximity is not so close as to be ‘unduly suggestive,’ the appropriate
test is timing plus othesvidence.ld. at 424 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

I. Defendant Lopez

Plaintiff appears to allege two instances of retaliation by DefendanzLBpst, Plaintiff
alleges thatfter a search of his living aredelded contraband)efendant Lopez had Plaintiff
removed from the work release progrand required him to complete a punitive program
assignment(DE 9 at 6.) Second, Plaintifftates simply thaDefendant Lopez, among othgers

“arrangedo have plaintiff administratively transferred” to another facility in retaliatiorfiliog
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grievances.I(l. at 8.)On neither of these occasions, however, does Plaintiff provide any allegation
that Defendant Lopeevenknew thatPlaintiff had filed agrievance.See Ambrose v. Twp. of
Robinson303 F.3d 488, 493 (3d Cir. 2002) (“It is only intuitive that for protected conduct to be a
substantial or motivating factor in a decision, the decisionmakers must beddtaeeprotected
conduct.”). By Plaintiff's own explanation, his termination from the work release prognam
completion of gpunitive assignment stemmed frohis possession of contraband. (DE 9 at 6.)
Plaintiff does not allege that Defendant Lopgemew thatPlaintiff had filed a grigance against
Defendant Jones, let alone that Plaintiff's punishment, which had an obviousnzasses;tually
motivatedby Plaintiff’'s grievance.

Further, Plaintiff merely state@s a conclusiothat “Defendants Lopez, Krusznis, and
others,arranged to have plaintiff administratively transferred” to anothdityaio retaliation for
having filed grievancesld. at 8.) Plaintiff does not provide further conteAbsent additional
information this assertion does not establish that Defentlapez was aware of any grievances
Plaintiff filed, or thatthose grievances were a substantial or motivating fact@eiiendant
Lopez’sdecision to have Plaintiff transferresleeTwombly 550 U.Sat555(stating that although
a plaintiff's complaint need not contain detailed factual allegations, a plaintitf stiligrovide
“more than labels and conclusions, and formulaic recitation of the elementao$e of action”);
see alsdgbal, 556 U.S.at 678 (holding that a plaintiff must pleaddctual content that allows the
court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for ttumduist alleged.
Accordingly, Plaintiff's retaliation claims against Defendant Lopez are dismissedoutith

prejudice.
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. Defendant Leake

Plaintiff's First Amendment retaliationlaim against Defendant Leake appears to stem
from Leake’s involvement in Plaintiff's parole revocation. (DE 9 atFgintiff allegesthat
Defendant NewbormbservedPlaintiff’'s completion ofa grievanceform regardingthe “arcane
telephone procedures” at the Robinson Assessment Geritebecame alarméd(ld.) Shortly
thereafter,Defendant Newborn and Defendant Ledkéiated theprocess to havélaintiff
discharged from the RESAP prograital. Y Plaintiff stateshatthe basis for his discharge wais
alleged filing of “false and misleading requesi$d’) Attached to Plaintiff's amended complaint
is the discharge reportompleted by Defendant Newbornhieh states that Plaintiff used the
facility’s computer lab without authorization and that, on multiple occastlanslied” to staff
members (DE 91 at 30.)

Baseduponthe information provided by Plaintjfthereis no indicationthat Defendant
Leake was aware Plaintiffadfiled a grie\anceor, to the extent Defendahtake was involved in
Plaintiff's dischargethatPlaintiff's grievancewvas a substantial or motivating factomefendant
Leake’s decisiomo revoke Plaintiff’'s paroldn fact, Plaintiff statesonly thatDefendant Newborn
observed his completion ofgievanceform. (DE 9 at 9) And, based on the exhibits Plaintiff
submitted with his complainit, wasonly Defendant Newborwho completed Riintiff's discharge
reportfrom the Robinson Assessment CentBIE @1 at 30) Defendant Leake is not mentioned
anywherein thereport (Id.) The only mention of Defendant Leagenvolvement in Plaintiff's
parole revocation iflaintiff's bald assertion that Defendant Leake helpetiate discharge
proceedingsWithout more Plaintiff's amended complairckssufficient informationto state a

First Amendmentetaliation claim against Defendant Leake.
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C. Unauthorized Search

In Plaintiff’'s second claim for relief, he alleges that Defendant Lopéalated his
reasonable expectation of privacy” by searching his living aredune 4, 2018. (DE 9 at 10.)
Defendants argue, however, that Plaintiiiiended coplaint fails to set forth any facts that
Defendant Lopez was involved in the June 4, 28d&ch(DE 431 at13.) While a plaintiff's
complaintis not required t@ontain detailed factual allegations, the plaintiff must at least provide
sufficient factualallegations which allow a court “tdraw the reasonable inference that the
defendant is liable for the misconduct allegddial, 556 U.Sat678 (citingTwombly 550 U.S.
at 556).

Here, Plaintifis amended @mplaint lacks any allegations that Defendant Lopez was
involved in the June 4, 2018 search of Plaintiff’s living area. There is no indication featBet
Lopezordered the search, participated in the search, or even knetvdlsgarch was occurring.
Accordingly, rrespective of the permissibility, or not, of the seaRtaintiff’'s unauthorized search
claim against Defendant Lopeall be dismissed without prejudice.

D. Substantive and Procedural Due Process Violations

In Plaintiff's third claim, hestates only thaDefendants’ “collective actions operated to
deny plaintiff procedural and due process protections, as défitleeFourteenth Amendmei

the United States Constitutidn(DE 9 at 16-11.) Plaintiff does not elaborate furtherdJ)
Although a pro se plaintiff's pleadings are liberally construed, the plaintiff stillsio more than
provide a “blanket assertion” that he is entitled to rekéillips, 515 F.3d at 232. Rule 8 of the
Federal Rules of Civil ®cedure requires at least a “short and plain statement of the claim.” Fed.

R. Civ. P.8(a)(2).Here,as Defendants point out, Plaintiff provides no more tobald assertion

that Defendants violated his Fourteenth Amendment rights. Indeédut more informationit

10
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is uncleawhatsubstantive or procedural due procéstationsPlaintiff isalleging occurred(See
generallyDE 9 at 10-11.) Thyshis claim will be dismissed without prejudice.
V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasonthe motions ofDefendantd.opez and Leakéo dsmissthe
complaint (DE 43) will be GRANTED. The official capacity claims against Defendafuis
monetary damagesill be dismissed with prejudicdbecause amendment would be futilée
First Amendment retaliation claim, the unauthorized search claim, and the RtuAegendment
due process claimgainst Defendants will all be dismissed without prejudiacéhe submission,

within 30 days, of a proposed amended complaint. An appropriate order follows.

DATED: November 30, 2020 /sl Kevin McNulty

KEVIN MCNULTY
United States District Judge
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